DRAFT (1): S&S/GYS/X49656

THE COMPANIES ACT 1985
PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

# MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

OF

## **UTILYX LIMITED**

(as amended by a Written Resolution dated 28 April 2000)

Registered Number: 03922833

Incorporated: 10/02/2000

**SIMMONS & SIMMONS** 

21 Wilson Street London EC2M 2TX Tel: 0171-628 2020 / 528 9292 Fax 0171-628 2070 DX Box No 12



COMPANIES HOUSE

17/05/00

## **CONTENTS**

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION1			
	1.	Name	1
	2.	Registered Office	1
	3.	Objects	1
	4.	Members' Liability	4
	5.	Share Capital	5
	ARTIC	CLES OF ASSOCIATION	7
	1.	Table A	7
	2.	Interpretation	7
	3.	Unissued share capital	8
	4.	Redeemable shares	8
	5.	Transfers of shares	8
	6.	Pre-Emption Rights	8
	7.	Change in control of a Shareholder that is a body corporate	.13
	8.	Notice of general meetings	.14
	9.	Proceedings at general meetings	.14
	10.	Votes of Members	.14
	11.	Alternate Directors	.14
	12.	The seal	.15
	13.	Delegation of Directors' powers	.15
	14.	Appointment and retirement of Directors	.15
	15.	Directors' gratuities and pensions	.15
	16.	Proceedings of Directors	.16
	17.	Notices	.16
	18.	Winding up	.17
	19.	Indemnity	.17

i

#### THE COMPANIES ACT 1985

#### PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION

of

**UTILYX LIMITED** 



## 1. Name

1.1 The Company's name is "Utilyx Limited".

#### 2. Registered Office

2.1 The Company's registered office is to be situated in England and Wales.

## 3. Objects

- 3.1 <sup>2</sup>The Company's object is to carry on business as a general commercial company and accordingly to carry on any trade or business whatsoever and so that the company has power to do all such things as are incidental or conducive to the carrying on of any trade or business by it and in addition and without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing the further objects for which the Company is established are:
  - (A) To carry on all or any of the businesses of general merchants and traders, cash and credit traders, manufacturers agents and representatives, insurance brokers and consultants, estate and advertising agents, mortgage brokers, financial agents, advisers, managers and administrators, hire purchase and general financiers, brokers and agents, commission agents, importers and exporters, manufacturers, retailers, wholesalers, buyers, sellers, distributors and shippers of, and dealers in all products, goods, wares, merchandise and produce of every description, to participate in, undertake, perform and carry on all kinds of commercial, industrial, trading and financial operations and enterprises; to carry on all or any of the businesses of marketing and business consultants, advertising agents and contractors, general storekeepers, warehousemen, discount traders, mail order specialists, railway, shipping and forwarding agents, shippers, traders, capitalists and financiers either on the Company's own account or otherwise, printers and publishers; haulage and transport contractors, garage proprietors, operators, hirers and letters on hire of, and dealers in motor and other vehicles, craft, plant, machinery, tools and equipment of all kinds; and to purchase or otherwise acquire and take over any businesses or undertakings which may be deemed expedient, or to become interested in, and to carry on or dispose of, remove or put an end to the same or otherwise deal with any such businesses or undertakings as may be thought desirable.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> By a Special Resolution dated 07 March 2000, it was resolved that the name of the Company be changed from Laneweald Limited

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> By a Written Resolution dated 28 April 2000 amendments were made to clause 3.1 of this Memorandum.

- (B) To acquire and assume for any estate or interest and to take options over, construct, develop or exploit any property real or personal, and rights of any kind and the whole or any part of the undertaking, assets and liabilities of any person and to act and carry on business as a holding company.
- (C) To manufacture, process, import, export, deal in and store any goods and other things and to carry on the business of manufacturers, processors, importers, exporters and storers of and dealers in any goods and other things.
- (D) To acquire and exploit lands, mines and mineral rights and to acquire, explore for and exploit any natural resources and to carry on any business involving the ownership or possession of land or other immovable property or buildings or structures thereon and to construct, erect, install, enlarge, alter and maintain buildings, plant and machinery and to carry on business as builders, contractors and engineers.
- (E) To provide services of all descriptions and to carry on business as advisers, consultants, brokers and agents of any kind.
- (F) To advertise, market and sell the products of the Company and of any other person and to carry on the business of advertisers or advertising agents or of a marketing and selling organisation or of a supplier, wholesaler, retailer, merchant or dealer of any kind.
- (G) To provide technical, cultural, artistic, educational, entertainment or business material, facilities or services and to carry on any business involving any such provision.
- (H) To lend money, and grant or provide credit and financial accommodation, to any person and to carry on the business of a banking, finance or insurance company.
- (I) To invest money of the Company in any investments and to hold, sell or otherwise deal with such investments, and to carry on the business of a property or investment company.
- (J) To acquire and carry on any business carried on by a subsidiary or a holding company of the Company or another subsidiary of a holding company of the Company.
- (K) To enter into any arrangements with any government or authority or person and to obtain from any such government or authority or person any legislation, orders, rights, privileges, franchises and concessions and to carry out, exercise and comply with the same.
- (L) To borrow and raise money and accept money on deposit and to accept, draw, make, create, issue, execute, discount, endorse, negotiate and deal in bills of exchange, promissory notes and other instruments and securities, whether negotiable or otherwise and to engage in currency exchange and interest rate transactions, including but not limited to dealings in foreign currency, spot and forward rate exchange contracts, futures, options, forward rate agreements, swaps, caps, floors, collars and any other foreign exchange or interest rate hedging arrangements and such other instruments as are similar to, or derived from any of the foregoing whether for the purpose of making a profit or avoiding a loss or managing a currency or interest rate exposure or any other exposure or for any other purpose and to enter into any guarantee, contract of indemnity or suretyship.
- (M) To enter into any guarantee, contract of indemnity or suretyship and in particular (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) to guarantee, support or secure, with or without consideration, the performance of any obligations or commitments of, and the repayment or payment of the principal amounts of and any premiums, interest,

dividends and other moneys payable on or in respect of any securities or liabilities of, any person, including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) any subsidiary or holding company of the Company or another subsidiary of a holding company of the Company or otherwise associated with the Company, and to secure or discharge any debt or obligation in any manner and in particular (but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) by mortgages of or charges upon all or any part of the undertaking, property and assets (present and future) and uncalled capital of the Company or by the creation and issue of securities or in any other manner or any combination thereof.

- (N) To amalgamate or enter into partnership or any profit-sharing arrangement with, or to co-operate or participate in any way with, or to take over or assume any obligation of, or to assist or subsidise any person.
- (O) To apply for and take out, purchase or otherwise acquire any trade and service marks and names, designs, patents, patent rights, inventions and secret processes and to carry on the business of an inventor, designer or research organisation.
- (P) To sell, exchange, mortgage, charge, let on rent, share of profit, royalty or otherwise, grant licences, easements, options, servitudes and other rights over, and in any other manner deal with, or dispose of, all or any part of the undertaking, property and assets (present and future) of the Company for any consideration and in particular (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) for any securities.
- (Q) To issue and allot securities of the Company for cash or in payment or part payment for any real or personal property purchased or otherwise acquired by the Company or any services rendered to the Company or as security for any obligation or amount (even if less than the nominal amount of such securities) or for any other purpose.
- (R) To give any remuneration or other compensation or reward for services rendered or to be rendered in placing or procuring subscriptions of, or otherwise assisting in the issue of, any securities of the Company or in or about the formation of the Company or the conduct or course of its business, and to establish or promote, or concur or participate in establishing or promoting, any company, fund or trust and to subscribe for, underwrite, purchase or otherwise acquire securities of any company, fund or trust and to carry on the business of company, fund, trust or business promoters or managers and of underwriters or dealers in securities, and to act as director of and as secretary, manager, registrar or transfer agent for any other company and to act as trustees of any kind and to undertake and execute any trust.
- (S) To pay all the costs, charges and expenses preliminary or incidental to the promotion, formation, establishment and incorporation of the Company, and to procure the registration or incorporation of the Company in or under the laws of any place outside England.
- (T) To grant pensions, annuities, gratuities and superannuation or other allowances and benefits, including allowances on death, to any directors, officers or employees or former directors, officers or employees of the Company or any company which at any time is or was a subsidiary or a holding company of the Company or another subsidiary of a holding company of the Company or otherwise associated with the Company or of any predecessor in business of any of them, and to the relations, connections or dependants of any such persons, and to other persons whose service or services have directly or indirectly been of benefit to the Company or who the Company considers have any moral claim on the Company or to their relations, connections or dependants, and to establish or support any associations, institutions, clubs, schools, building and housing schemes, funds and trusts, and to make payments towards insurances or other arrangements likely to benefit any such persons or otherwise advance the

interests of the Company or of its Members, and to subscribe, guarantee or pay money for any purpose likely, directly or indirectly, to further the interests of the Company or of its Members or for any national, charitable, benevolent, educational, social, public, general or useful object.

- (U) To purchase and maintain for any director, other officer or auditor of the Company insurance against any liability against which the Company may lawfully insure any such persons including (without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) any liability which by virtue of any rule of law would attach to him in respect of any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust of which he may be guilty in relation to the Company.
- (V) To cease carrying on or wind up any business or activity of the Company, and to cancel any registration of and to wind up or procure the dissolution of the Company in any state or territory.
- (W) To distribute any of the property of the Company among its creditors and Members in specie or kind.
- (X) To do all or any of the things or matters aforesaid in any part of the world and either as principals, agents, contractors, trustees or otherwise and by or through trustees, agents or otherwise and either alone or in conjunction with others.
- (Y) To carry on any other business or activity and do anything of any nature which in the opinion of the Company is or may be capable of being conveniently carried on or done in connection with the above, or likely directly or indirectly to enhance the value of or render more profitable all or any part of the Company's undertaking, property or assets or otherwise to advance the interests of the Company or of its Members.
- (Z) To do all such other things as in the opinion of the Company are or may be incidental or conducive to the attainment of the above objects or any of them.

AND it is hereby declared that in this clause "company", except where used in reference to this Company, shall include any partnership or other body of persons, whether incorporated or not incorporated, and whether formed, incorporated, domiciled or resident in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, "person" shall include any company as well as any other legal or natural person, "subsidiary" and "holding company" shall include, respectively, "subsidiary undertaking" and "parent undertaking", "securities" shall include any fully, partly or nil paid or no par value share, stock, unit, debenture, debenture or loan stock, deposit receipt, bill, note, warrant, coupon, right to subscribe or convert, or similar right or obligation, "and" and "or" shall mean "and/or" where the context so permits, "other" and "otherwise" shall not be construed ejusdem generis where a wider construction is possible, and the objects specified in the different paragraphs of this clause shall not, except where the context expressly so requires, be in any way limited or restricted by reference to or inference from the terms of any other paragraph or the name of the Company, but may be carried out in as full and ample a manner and shall be construed in as wide a sense as if each of the said paragraphs defined the objects of a separate, distinct and independent company.

#### 4. Members' Liability

4.1 The liability of the Members is limited.

## 5. Share Capital

5.1 The Company's share capital is £15 000 divided into 1 500 000 shares of £0.01 each, and the Company shall have the power to divide the original or any increased capital into several classes, and to attach thereto any preferential, deferred, qualified or other special rights, privileges, restrictions or conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> By a Written Resolution dated 28 April 2000 it was resolved to divide the Company's share capital of £100 divided into 100 Ordinary Shares of £1 each into 10 000 Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each. Further, by a Written Resolution dated 28 April 2000 it was resolved to increase the Company's nominal capital to £15 000 by the creation of 1 490 000 Ordinary Shares of £0.01 ranking pari passu in all respects with the existing Ordinary Shares.

We, the subscribers to this memorandum of association, wish to be formed into a company pursuant to this memorandum of association, and we agree to take the number of shares shown opposite our respective names.

Names and Addresses of Subscribers

Number of shares taken by each Subscriber

London Law Services Limited

1

Total shares taken:

1

#### THE COMPANIES ACT 1985

PRIVATE COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

of

**UTILYX LIMITED** 

#### ADOPTED BY WRITTEN RESOLUTION DATED 28 APRIL 2000

#### 1. Table A

1.1 The Regulations in Table A in the schedule to the Companies (Tables A to F) Regulations 1985, as amended at the date of adoption of these Articles (<u>"Table A"</u>), shall except where the same are excluded or varied by or inconsistent with these Articles apply to the Company. No other regulations set out in any statute or statutory instrument concerning companies shall apply as regulations of the Company.

#### 2. Interpretation

2.1 In these Articles unless the context otherwise requires:

<u>"these Articles"</u> means these Articles of Association in their present form or as from time to time altered;

the <u>"Companies Acts"</u> means every statute from time to time in force concerning companies insofar as the same applies to the Company;

<u>"Member"</u> means a member of the Company;

every reference in Table A to the "Act" shall be construed as if the reference were to the Companies Acts;

any words or expressions defined in the Companies Act 1985 in force at the date when these Articles or any part thereof are adopted shall bear the same meaning in these Articles or such other part (as the case may be);

where for any purpose an ordinary resolution of the Company is required, a special or extraordinary resolution shall also be effective, and where an extraordinary resolution is required a special resolution shall also be effective.

## 3. Unissued share capital

- 3.1 Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts and these Articles and to any direction to the contrary which may be given by ordinary or other resolution of the Company, any unissued shares of the Company (whether forming part of the original or any increased capital) shall be at the disposal of the Directors who may offer, allot, grant options over or grant any right or rights to subscribe for such shares or any right or rights to convert any security into such shares or otherwise dispose of them to such persons, at such times and for such consideration and upon such terms and conditions as the Directors may determine.
- 3.2 For the purposes of section 80 of the Companies Act 1985, the Directors are generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise all powers of the Company to allot relevant securities as defined in the said section up to an aggregate nominal amount of £15 000. This authority shall expire five years from the date of the adoption of these Articles but may be previously revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting and may from time to time be renewed by the Company in general meeting for a further period not exceeding five years. The Company may make any offer or agreement before the expiry of this authority that would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after this authority has expired and the Directors may allot relevant securities in pursuance of any such offer or agreement as if this authority had not expired.
- 3.3 This Article shall not apply to redeemable shares which shall be governed by the provisions of Article 4 of these Articles.
- 3.4 Sub-section (1) of section 89 and sub-sections (1) to (6) (inclusive) of section 90 of the Companies Act 1985 shall not apply.

## 4. Redeemable shares

4.1 Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, any shares may, with the sanction of a special resolution, be issued on terms that they are, or at the option of the Company or the Member registered in respect of such shares are liable, to be redeemed on such terms and in such manner as may be provided for by these Articles. Regulation 3 of Table A shall not apply.

## 5. Transfers of shares

5.1 The directors may, in their absolute discretion and without assigning any reason therefor, decline to register any transfer of any share, whether or not it is a fully paid share. Regulation 24 of Table A shall not apply.

## 6. Pre-Emption Rights

#### 6.1 Transfer Notice

Any Shareholder of the Company (a "<u>Transferor</u>") wishing to dispose of any of his shares in the Company or any beneficial interest therein ("<u>Sale Shares</u>") shall give notice in writing (a "<u>Transfer Notice</u>") to the Company that he wishes to dispose of one or more of his Sale Shares. If the capital of the Company is divided into separate classes of shares a separate Transfer Notice shall be given for each class of Sale Shares proposed to be sold. Every Transfer Notice shall:

- (A) constitute the Company as the agent of the Transferor for the sale of the Sale Shares in accordance with this clause 18 at the Sale Price:
- (B) specify the number and class of Sale Shares;

- (C) if the Transferor shall have reached an agreement or an arrangement with an independent third party for the sale of the Sale Shares, state the name of such independent third party and the price per share at which Sale Shares are proposed to be sold to such independent third party;
- (D) be accompanied by the certificates for the Sale Shares (or such indemnity in lieu thereof as the Company may reasonably require); and
- (E) not be revocable except with the consent of the Directors.

## 6.2 Shares Transferred

For the purposes of this clause 18 the words <u>"Sale Shares"</u> shall include shares in the Company comprised in a Transfer Notice served or deemed to have been served pursuant to this Agreement and the word <u>"Transferor"</u> shall include any person who is required to give a Transfer Notice pursuant to such provisions.

#### 6.3 Deemed Transfers

- (A) A Transfer Notice shall also be deemed to have been served by any Transferor who purports to transfer Sale Shares other than in accordance with this clause 14 without serving a Transfer Notice (including, without limitation, if the Directors declare that a Transfer Notice has been deemed to have been served pursuant to clause 18.11) and, in those circumstances, the Transfer Notice shall:
  - (1) constitute the Company the agent of the Transferor, in accordance with Paragraph (A) of clause 18.1;
  - (2) be deemed to apply to the number and class of Sale Shares purported to have been transferred:
  - (3) entitle the Company to require the details referred to in Paragraph (B) and (C) of clause 18.1; and
  - (4) entitle the Company to require delivery to it of the certificate for the Sale Shares (or such indemnity as the Company may reasonably require); and
- (B) In the event of the death, bankruptcy, permanent disability or insolvency of any Shareholder a Transfer Notice shall be deemed to have been served by that Shareholder in respect of all of the Shares held by that Shareholder at that date and, in those circumstances, such Transfer Notice shall:
  - (1) constitute the Company as the agent of the relevant Shareholder in accordance with Paragraph (A) of clause 18.1; and
  - (2) entitle the Company to require delivery to it of the certificate for the Shares (or such indemnity as the Company may reasonably require).
- (C) If any Shares are deemed to be the subject of a Transfer Notice in accordance with clause 18.3(B), the sale price per Sale Share shall be either:
  - (1) such price as may be agreed between the Directors and the relevant Shareholders' personal representative, trustee in bankruptcy, liquidator, receiver, or administrator, as the case may be, within 14 days of the Transfer Notice; or
  - (2) in the absence of agreement, the Fair Value for such Sale Shares.

#### 6.4 Transferor Excluded

For the purposes of determining the Shareholders to whom Sale Shares comprised in a Transfer Notice should be offered, the Transferor in respect of the relevant Transfer Notice(s) shall be deemed not to be a member of the Company.

#### 6.5 **Pre-emption Rounds**

Subject to the Sale Price being agreed or determined (as the case may be) in accordance with clause 18.10, the Company shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, give notice in writing to each of the Shareholders informing them that the Sale Shares are available for transfer and of the Sale Price and shall invite each Shareholder to state in writing within 30 days from the date of the said notice (which date shall be specified therein) whether he is willing to purchase any and, if so, how many of the Sale Shares.

#### 6.6 Proportionate Entitlements

The Sale Shares shall be offered to each class of shareholder on terms that, in the event of competition, the Sale Shares offered shall be sold to the members accepting the offer in proportion (as nearly as may be) to their existing holdings of shares of the class to which the offer is made (their "Proportionate Entitlement"). Each member may specify whether he is willing to purchase Sale Shares in excess of his Proportionate Entitlement ("Excess Shares") and if he does so he shall state the number of Excess Shares. After the expiry of the offers made pursuant to clause 18.5 or sooner if all the Sale Shares offered shall have been accepted, the Board shall allocate the Sale Shares within 7 days in the following manner:

- (A) if the total number of shares applied for is equal to or less than the available number of Sale Shares, the Company shall allocate the Sale Shares applied for in accordance with the applications received; or
- (B) if the total number of shares applied for is more than the available number of Sale Shares, each member shall be allocated his Proportionate Entitlement or such lesser number of Sale Shares for which he may have applied and applications for Excess Shares shall be allocated in accordance with the applications received or, in the event of competition, as nearly as may be to each member who has applied for Excess Shares in the proportion which shares of the relevant class held by such member bears to the total number of shares of that class held by all such members applying for Excess Shares PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT no member shall be allocated more shares than he shall have stated himself willing to take

and in either case the Company shall forthwith give notice of each such allocation (an <u>"Allocation Notice"</u>) to the Transferor and each of the persons to whom Sale Shares have been allocated (an <u>"Applicant"</u>) and shall specify in the Allocation Notice the place and time (being not later than 14 days after the date of the Allocation Notice) at which the sale of the Sale Shares shall be completed.

#### 6.7 Allocations

Upon such allocations being made as aforesaid, the Transferor shall be bound, on payment of the Sale Price, to transfer the Sale Shares comprised in the Allocation Notice to the Applicant(s) named therein at the time and place specified therein. If the Transferor defaults in so doing the chairman for the time being of the Board or, failing him, one of the other Directors or some other person duly nominated by a resolution of the Board for that purpose, shall forthwith be deemed to be the duly appointed attorney of the Transferor with full power to execute, complete and deliver in the name and on behalf of the Transferor a transfer or transfers of the relevant Sale Shares to the Applicant(s) and any Director may receive and give a good discharge for the purchase money on behalf of the Transferor and (subject to the transfer(s) being duly stamped) enter the name of the Applicant(s) in the register of members as the holder(s) of the shares so purchased. The Company shall forthwith pay the purchase

money into a separate bank account in the Company's name and shall hold such money on trust (without interest) for the Transferor until the Transferor shall deliver up to the Company his certificate(s) (or such indemnity in lieu thereof as the Company may reasonably require) for the relevant shares when the Transferor shall thereupon be paid the purchase money.

## 6.8 Purchase by the Company

If the Company shall not find a transferee for any or all of the Sale Shares in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this clause 18, the Company may, subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts and its Articles of Association, exercise its power to purchase any of the shares comprised in the Transfer Notice for which a transferee has not been found.

## 6.9 Exhaustion of Pre-emption Provisions

In the event of all the Sale Shares not being sold or purchased by the Company under the foregoing provisions of this clause 18, the Transferor may at any time within 3 calendar months after receiving notice from the Company that the pre-emption provisions herein contained have been exhausted transfer any Sale Shares not sold to any person or persons at any price not less than the Sale Price PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT:

- (A) the Board shall be entitled to refuse registration of the proposed transferee if the proposed transferee is or is believed to be a person or a nominee for a person reasonably considered by the Board to be a competitor (or connected with a competitor) of the business of the Company PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT the Board shall not be so entitled to refuse registration if the effect of such transfer would, when completed, constitute sale of a Controlling Interest and the provisions of clause 18.13 have been complied with.
- (B) any such sale shall be a bona fide sale and the Board may require to be satisfied in such manner as it may reasonably require that the Sale Shares are being sold in pursuance of a bona fide sale for not less than the Sale Price without any deduction, rebate or allowance whatsoever to the purchaser and, if not so satisfied, may refuse to register the instrument of transfer.

#### 6.10 Sale Price for Transfers

The sale price per Sale Share (the <u>"Sale Price"</u>) the subject of a Transfer Notice shall be either:

- (A) if there is an independent third party as is referred to in Paragraph (C) of clause 18.1 and such independent third party is acting in good faith and has agreed a price per share to be paid for the Sale Shares, the price per share agreed to be paid by such independent third party or, if the foregoing does not apply, the price thereof agreed between the Transferor and the Directors within 14 days of the date of service of the Transfer Notice, or, in the absence of agreement; or
- (B) the Fair Value.

## 6.11 Verification

For the purpose of ensuring that a transfer of shares is duly authorised hereunder and that no circumstances have arisen whereby a Transfer Notice is required to be served hereunder, the Directors may from time to time require any member or past member or the personal representatives or trustee in bankruptcy, receiver or liquidator of any member or any person named as transferee in any instrument of transfer lodged for registration to furnish to the Company such information and evidence as the Directors may reasonably think fit regarding any matter which they may deem relevant for the purpose of this clause 18.11. Failing such

information or evidence being furnished to the reasonable satisfaction of the Directors within a reasonable time after request, the Directors shall be entitled to refuse to register the transfer in question or, if no transfer is in question, to declare by notice in writing that a Transfer Notice shall have been deemed to have been served in respect of the shares concerned. If such information or evidence discloses that, in the reasonable opinion of the Directors, a Transfer Notice ought to have been served in respect of any shares the Directors may also by notice in writing declare that a Transfer Notice has been deemed to have been served in respect of the shares concerned.

#### 6.12 Fair Value

- (A) In this Agreement the term <u>"Fair Value"</u> shall mean the price per share certified in writing by the Auditors as being the price which, in their opinion, represents a fair value for such share as between a willing vendor and purchaser of the same as at the date the Transfer Notice is given or is deemed to have been given in respect of such share.
- (B) When giving such certificate, the Auditors shall not take into account whether the shares concerned comprise the majority or a minority interest in the share capital of the Company, nor the fact that the right to transfer such shares is restricted by this Agreement and shall assume that the entire issued share capital of the Company is being sold. However, in so certifying the Auditors shall take into account such other facts as they, in their absolute discretion, shall consider appropriate including, if they so consider appropriate, the past and current performance of the Group, the apparent future prospects of the Company and the rights attaching to the class of share which is the subject of the Transfer Notice. The Auditors shall act as experts and not as arbitrators and, in the absence of manifest error, their decision shall be final and binding on the Company and its members. The reasonable costs of the Auditors in certifying the Fair Value shall be borne by the Company.

## 6.13 Tag-Along

Subject to the provisions of this Agreement:

- (A) Shareholders who hold between them a Controlling Interest in the Company proposing to transfer those shares to a third party (the "Selling Member") may accept a bona fide offer (the "Offer") from such third party (the "Proposed Purchaser") for the purchase of the entire legal and beneficial interest in all shares owned by it in the Company for a consideration payable in cash without any deferred consideration terms and otherwise on arms' length terms so long as the acceptance is conditional upon the terms of this paragraph being complied with in all respects and that condition is not waived and, for the avoidance of doubt, clauses 18.1 to 18.9 and 18.11 shall not apply to any transfer of shares made pursuant to an Offer.
- (B) The Selling Member may complete a purchase pursuant to the Offer if:
  - (i) it dispatches a notice within 7 days of accepting the Offer notifying all other shareholders (the <u>"Remaining Members"</u>) of the main terms of the Offer and that it has contracted to accept the Offer as permitted by this paragraph, such notice to constitute a warranty and representation by the Selling Member's acceptance of it in bona fide in all respects to the best of the Selling Member's knowledge, information and belief; and
  - (ii) the Proposed Purchaser has made a binding written offer to the Remaining Members at the same price per share and on terms that are not worse than those in the Offer that is kept open for at least ten days from delivery of the notice sent by the Selling Member to the Remaining Members; and

- (iii) the period mentioned in (ii) has elapsed or all Remaining Members have accepted or completed the offer made to them; and
- (iv) the Remaining Members may accept and complete an offer made to them by a Proposed Purchaser under this paragraph.

## 6.14 Drag-Along

- (A) In the event that, following a transfer of Shares made in accordance with clause 18.13 hereof, a Controlling Interest is obtained in the Company by any person (the "Controller"), the Company shall give notice thereof to all the Shareholders of the Company who have not agreed to sell all or some of the Shares held by them to the Controller, and such shareholders shall be bound, upon payment to them of an amount equal to the applicable Compulsory Sale Price multiplied by the number of Shares held by the relevant shareholder, to sell or transfer their entire legal or beneficial interest (as the case may be) in such Shares (and to execute transfers and pre-emption waivers in respect of the same) to the Controller.
- (B) If any shareholder, after having become bound to transfer his legal or beneficial interests (as the case may be) pursuant to clause 18.14(A), defaults in respect of his obligations under this Clause, the Company may receive the Compulsory Sale Price for that Shareholder's Shares ("the Purchase Monies") tendered by the Controller and the relevant Shareholder shall be deemed to have appointed any one Director as his agent to execute a transfer of the Shares which are the subject of the offers concerned to the Controller and any pre-emption waivers in respect of the same. Upon the execution of such documents and receipt of the Purchase Monies from the Controller, the Company shall pay the Purchase Monies into a separate bank account in the Company's name and hold such money on trust (without interest) for such shareholder until he shall deliver up to the Company his certificate(s) for the relevant Shares (or such indemnity in lieu thereof as the Company may reasonably require) when he shall thereupon be paid the Purchase Monies.
- (C) The receipt of the Company for the Purchase Monies shall be a good discharge to the Controller and after the Controller's name has been entered on the register of members in exercise of the power conferred by this Clause 18.14, the validity of the proceedings shall not be questioned by any person.

#### 6.15 Deed of Adherence

Any party hereto which proposes to transfer any Shares in accordance with the Agreement or whose nominee does so shall procure that the transferee or the person who becomes the beneficial owner of the Shares transferred shall, if not already a party to this Agreement, enter into a Deed of Adherence in the terms of schedule 4 prior to the transfer.

The parties to this Agreement shall procure to the extent of their respective rights and the rights of their respective nominees from time to time to vote (or to procure that their respective nominees vote) as shareholders and/or as directors of the Company (as the case may be) that no person is allotted any shares unless such person, or if such person is allotted shares as nominee, the person who becomes the beneficial owner of such shares shall have executed if such person is allotted shares as nominee, a Deed of Adherence in the terms of schedule 4 prior to such allotment.

#### 7. Change in control of a Shareholder that is a body corporate

7.1 If there is a change of control of a Shareholder that is a body corporate that results in a third party obtaining a Controlling Interest in that body corporate then the Existing Shareholders and/or the Company may serve a notice (a "Disenfranchisement Notice") in respect of the

Shares held by that body corporate ("the Restricted Shares") which shall automatically entitle the Existing Shareholders to exercise all the rights of that body corporate in relation to the Restricted Shares, including, without limitation the right to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company (whether on a show of hands or on a poll) as if it were the holder of the Restricted Shares.

- 7.2 The recipient of the Disenfranchisement Notice hereby appoints the Existing Shareholders as its lawful attorney for the purpose of receiving notices of and attending and voting at all meetings of the members of the Company from the date of service of the Disenfranchisement Notice and hereby authorises:
  - (A) the Company to send any notices in respect of the Restricted Shares to the Existing Shareholders; and
  - (B) the Existing Shareholders to complete in such manner as they think fit and to return proxy cards, forms of appointment of a representative to attend a general meeting of the Company pursuant to section 375 Companies Act 1985, consents to short notice and any other document required to be signed by it in its capacity as a member.

#### 8. Notice of general meetings

Notice of every general meeting shall be given in any manner authorised by or under these Articles to all Members other than such as, under the provisions of these Articles or the terms of issue of the shares they hold, are not entitled to receive such notices from the Company, *Provided* that any Member may in writing waive notice of any meeting either prospectively or retrospectively and if he shall do so it shall be no objection to the validity of such meeting that notice was not given to him.

## 9. Proceedings at general meetings

9.1 At any general meeting a poll may be demanded by the Chairman or by any Member present in person or by proxy and Regulation 46 of Table A shall be varied accordingly.

#### 10. Votes of Members

- 10.1 Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares, on a show of hands every Member present in person and every person present as a proxy for a Member or Members shall have one vote, and on a poll every Member shall have one vote for each share of which he is the holder. Regulation 54 of Table A shall not apply.
- The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy of such power or authority, shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company (or at such other place in the United Kingdom as is specified for that purpose in the notice of meeting or any instrument of proxy sent by the Company in relation to the meeting) not less than forty-eight hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote, or handed to the Chairman of the meeting or adjourned meeting before the commencement of such meeting, and, in default, the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid. Regulation 62 of Table A shall not apply.

## 11. Alternate Directors

11.1 An alternate Director may be paid expenses and shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company to the same extent mutatis mutandis as if he were a Director but shall not be entitled to receive from the Company any fee in his capacity as an alternate Director except only such part (if any) of the remuneration otherwise payable to the Director appointing him as such

Director may by notice in writing to the Company from time to time direct and Regulation 66 of Table A shall be varied accordingly.

## 12. The seal

12.1 The Company may exercise all the powers conferred by the Companies Acts with regard to having any official seal, or otherwise in relation to the execution of documents by the Company, and such powers shall be vested in the Directors. Any document to which an official seal is affixed shall be signed by such persons, if any, as the Directors may from time to time determine and unless otherwise so determined shall be signed by a Director and by the Secretary or a second Director. Any document to which an official seal is affixed or which is otherwise executed by the Company shall be delivered at such time, and in such manner, as the Directors may from time to time determine, and shall not be deemed to be delivered by the Company solely as a result of having been executed by the Company. Regulation 101 of Table A shall not apply.

## 13. Delegation of Directors' powers

13.1 The Directors may delegate any of their powers to committees consisting of such person or persons (whether Directors or not) as they think fit. The Directors may also entrust to and confer upon any Director any of the powers exercisable by them. Any such delegation may be made upon such terms and conditions and with such restrictions as they may think fit, and either collaterally with or to the exclusion of their own powers, and the Directors may from time to time revoke, withdraw, alter or vary all or any of such powers. Subject to any such terms, conditions or restrictions, the proceedings of a committee with two or more members shall be governed by these Articles regulating the proceedings of directors so far as they are capable of applying. Regulation 72 of Table A shall not apply.

## 14. Appointment and retirement of Directors

- 14.1 Without prejudice to any other provisions of or incorporated in these Articles governing the appointment and removal of Directors, any Member or Members holding a majority in nominal value of such of the issued share capital for the time being of the Company as carries the right of attending and voting at general meetings of the Company may by memorandum in writing signed by or on behalf of him or them and delivered to the registered office of the Company or tendered at a meeting of the Board, or of the Company in general meeting, at any time and from time to time appoint any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors or remove any Director from office howsoever appointed.
- 14.2 The Directors and the Company by ordinary resolution shall each have power at any time and from time to time to appoint any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors. Any Director so appointed shall (subject to Regulation 81 of Table A and to the provisions of the Companies Acts) hold office until he is removed pursuant to these Articles.
- 14.3 Regulations 73 to 80 (inclusive), Regulation 81(e) and the last sentence of Regulation 84 of Table A shall not apply.

#### 15. Directors' gratuities and pensions

15.1 The Directors on behalf of the Company may exercise all the powers of the Company to grant pensions, annuities, gratuities and superannuation or other allowances and benefits in favour of any person including any Director or former Director or the relations, connections or dependants of any Director or former Director. A Director or former Director shall not be accountable to the Company or the Members for any benefit of any kind conferred under or pursuant to this Article and the receipt of any such benefit shall not disqualify any person from being or becoming a Director of the Company.

## 16. Proceedings of Directors

- The Directors may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings as they think fit. Questions arising at any meetings shall be determined by a majority of votes. In case of an equality of votes the chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote. A Director may, and the Secretary at the request of a Director shall, at any time call a meeting of the Directors. Notice of any meeting of the Directors may be given by telephone, facsimile or telex. It shall not be necessary to give notice of a meeting of the Directors to any Director for the time being absent from the United Kingdom unless
  - (A) he has given to the Company an address, whether within or outside the United Kingdom, at which notices can be served on him, or
  - (B) in the opinion of the Secretary or Director calling the meeting it is possible at the time notice is to be given to give him such notice by telephone, facsimile or telex and it will be possible for him to participate in the meeting by telephone or other communication equipment as referred to in Regulation 14.3 of these Articles.

Meetings may be held in any part of the world.

- 16.2 The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Directors may be fixed from time to time by the Directors and, unless so fixed at any other number, shall be two. An alternate Director shall, if his appointor is not present, be counted in the quorum. A meeting of the Directors at which a quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all powers and discretions for the time being exercisable by the Directors. Any Director who ceases to be a Director at a meeting of the Directors may continue to be present and act as a Director, and be counted in the quorum, until termination of the meeting if no other Director objects and if otherwise a quorum of Directors would not be present.
- 16.3 A Director shall be treated as present in person at a meeting of the Directors notwithstanding that he is not physically present at the place where the meeting is held if he is in communication with the meeting by conference telephone or other communication equipment permitting each person physically present at or so in communication with the meeting to hear and be heard by each other such person. Such a Director shall be counted in the quorum of the meeting and shall be entitled to vote thereat.
- 16.4 Subject to the provisions of these Articles and provided a Director shall have disclosed such interest in accordance with Regulation 85 of Table A, a Director shall be entitled to vote in respect of any transaction, contract, arrangement or agreement with the Company in which he is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested and if he shall do so his vote shall be counted and he shall be taken into account in ascertaining whether a quorum is present. For the purpose of this Article, an interest of a person who is, for any purpose of the Act, connected with a Director shall be treated as an interest of the Director and, in relation to an alternate Director, an interest of his appointor shall be treated as an interest of the alternate Director without prejudice to any interest which the alternate Director has otherwise.
- 16.5 Regulations 88-89 (inclusive) and 94-98 (inclusive) of Table A shall not apply.

## 17. Notices

17.1 Any notice or other document (including a share certificate) may be served on or delivered to any Member by the Company either personally or by sending it through the post in a prepaid letter addressed to such Member at his registered address as appearing in the Register of Members, or by delivering it to or leaving it at such registered address, addressed as aforesaid, or by any other means provided such other means have been authorised in writing by the Member concerned. In the case of joint holders of a share, service or delivery of any notice or other document on or to one of the joint holders shall for all purposes be deemed a

sufficient service on or delivery to all the joint holders. Any notice or other document served or delivered in accordance with these Articles shall be deemed duly served or delivered notwithstanding that the Member is then dead or bankrupt or otherwise under any legal disability or incapacity and whether or not the Company had notice thereof. Any such notice or other document, if sent by first-class post, shall be deemed to have been served or delivered on the day after the day when the same was put in the post, and in proving such service or delivery it shall be sufficient to prove that the notice or document was properly addressed, prepaid and put in the post. Regulations 112, 115 and 116 of Table A shall not apply.

## 18. Winding up

18.1 If the Company shall be wound up (whether the liquidation is voluntary, under supervision, or by the Court) the liquidator may, with the authority of an extraordinary resolution and subject to any provision sanctioned in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts, divide among the Members in specie or kind the whole or any part of the assets of the Company (whether they shall consist of property of the same kind or not) and may, for such purpose, set such values as he deems fair upon any assets to be divided as aforesaid and may determine how such division shall be carried out as between the Members or different classes of Members. The Liquidator may, with the like authority, vest the whole or any part of the assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of Members as the Liquidator with the like authority shall think fit, and the liquidation of the Company may be closed and the Company dissolved, but so that no contributory shall be compelled to accept any shares or other property in respect of which there is a liability and the Liquidator may make any provision referred to in and sanctioned in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts. Regulation 117 of Table A shall not apply.

## 19. Indemnity

Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the Company may purchase and maintain for any of the Company's Directors, alternate Directors, Auditors, Secretaries and other officers insurance against any liability which by virtue of any rule of law would otherwise attach to any such person in respect of any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust of which he may be guilty in relation to the Company and (whether or not any such insurance is effected) every such person shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him in the execution and discharge of his duties or in relation thereto including any liability incurred by him in defending any proceedings, civil or criminal, that relate to anything done or omitted or alleged to have been done or omitted by him as an officer or employee of the Company and in which judgement is given in his favour (or the proceedings otherwise disposed of without any finding or admission of any material breach of duty on his part) or in which he is acquitted or in connection with any application under any statute for relief from liability in respect of any such act or omission in which relief is granted by the Court. Regulation 118 of Table A shall not apply.